
 
 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
 
Meeting: CABINET CAPITAL ASSETS COMMITTEE 

Place: Kennet Room - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Tuesday 22 July 2014 

Time: 2.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Kirsty Butcher, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 713948 or email 
kirsty.butcher@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225)713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Fleur de Rhé-
Philipe 

Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Skills and 
Strategic Transport 

Cllr Jane Scott OBE Leader of the Council 
Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 

Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste 
Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Streetscene and Broadband 
Cllr Dick Tonge Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance, Risk, 

Procurement and Welfare Reform 
 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Keith Humphries Cabinet Member for Public Health, Protection Services, 
Adult Care and Housing (exc strategic housing) 

Cllr Laura Mayes Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
Cllr Jonathon Seed Cabinet Member for Communities, Campuses, Area 

Boards, Leisure, Libraries and Flooding 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler Cabinet Member for Hubs, Heritage & Arts, Governance 

(including information management), Support Services 
(HR, Legal, ICT, Business Services, Democratic Services) 

 



 



 

AGENDA 

 
 

 Part I 

 Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 
 
 

 
Key Decisions:   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s 

Forward Work Plan are shown as  
 

 

1   Apologies and Substitutions  

 

2   Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet (Capital 
Assets) Committee meeting held on 20 May 2014. 

 

3   Leader's Announcements  

 

4   Declarations of interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

5   Public Participation and Questions from Councillors  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. This meeting 
is open to the public, who may ask a question or make a statement. Questions 
can also be asked by members of the Council. Written notice of questions or 
statements should be given to Kirsty Butcher of Democratic Services by 12.00 
noon on Thursday 17 July 2014. Anyone wishing to ask a question or make a 
statement should contact the officer named above. 

 

6   Urgent items  

 Any other items of business that the Leader agrees to consider as a matter of 
urgency. 
 
 
 

 



7     Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD): Site 
Allocations (Pages 5 - 16) 

 Report author: Alistair Cunningham, Associate Director - Economic 
Development and Planning 

 

8   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 This is to give further notice in accordance with paragraph 5 (4) and 5 (5) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 of the intention to take the following 
item in private. 
 
 
To consider passing the following resolution: 

 
To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the business specified in Item 
Numbers 9 and 10 because it is likely that if members of the public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in  
paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information to the public. 
 
Reason for taking item in private: 

Paragraph 3 - information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

 

 

 Part II 

 Items during consideration of which it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt 

information would be disclosed 

 

 

9     Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD): Site 
Allocations (Pages 17 - 40) 

 To consider the attached appendices (exempt from publication) in relation to 
item 7 above. 

 

10     Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Project (Pages 41 - 70) 

 Report author: Maggie Rae, Corporate Director 
 
 



 The items on this agenda reflect the key goals of Wiltshire Council, namely 'Work together to 
support Wiltshire's Communities', 'Deliver high quality, low cost, customer focused services and 
'Ensure local, open, honest decision making'. 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET CAPITAL ASSETS COMMITTEE 
 

 
MINUTES of a MEETING held in KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE 
BA14 8JN on Tuesday, 20 May 2014. 
 
Cllr Keith Humphries Cabinet Member for Public Health, Protection Services, Adult 

Care and Housing (exc strategic housing) 
Cllr Laura Mayes Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
Cllr Jonathon Seed Cabinet Member for Communities, Campuses, Area Boards, 

Leisure, Libraries and Flooding 
Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 

Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste 
Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Streetscene and Broadband 

 
 
Also in Attendance:   

 

 
Key Decisions   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s Forward 

Work Plan are shown as  

 
 

10 Apologies and Substitutions 
 
Apologies were received from Cllrs Scott, Tonge and Wheeler. 
 
Cllrs Humphries, Mayes and Seed were substitutes. 
 
Cllr Thomson was in the chair for the meeting. 
 

11 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held 
on 18 March 2014. 
 

12 Leader's Announcements 
 
There were no announcements from the chair. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

13 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

14 Public Participation 
 
There were no questions asked or statements made. 
 

15 Gypsy & Traveller Development Plan Document 
 
Councillor Sturgis presented the report which outlined work proposed to 
undertake a review and roll forward of pitch requirements in the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy in the form of a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs 
Assessment and sought member’s endorsement for the arrangements being 
undertaken to assess land in Council ownership for inclusion as new traveller 
sites in the Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document to maintain a 5 
year supply of sites in accordance with national policy. 
 
He noted that the proposed traveller pitch requirements included in the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy, Core Policy 47 (as amended) seen in table 1 of the report were 
correct as of today but were subject to the outcome of the Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Needs Assessment. Interviews with the travelling community 
were underway as part of the review on overall pitch requirements and it was 
expected that numbers may increase as with the settled community. 
 
Resolved: 
 
The Committee endorsed the arrangements being undertaken in order to 
assess land in Council ownership for inclusion as new traveller sites in 
the Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document to maintain a 5 year 
supply of sites in accordance with national policy. 
 
Reason for proposal: 
 
There are a number of drivers for pursuing the opportunity to include Council 
land in the proposed Gypsy and Traveller DPD. These include: 
 

i. The legal requirement in the Housing Acts for councils to provide for the 
accommodation needs of gypsies and travellers in its area 

ii. The requirement in national policy for councils to respond positively to 
the accommodation needs of travellers, a commitment the Council has 
also made to the Wiltshire Core Strategy Inspector 

iii. The benefits of reducing unauthorised encampments / developments 
iv. The need to provide a choice in the size, type and locations of traveller 

sites in Wiltshire  
v. The requirement to maintain a 5 year supply of housing included in 

national policy 
 

Page 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
16 Urgent items 

 
There were no urgent items. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  12.00  - 12.06 pm) 

 
 

 

These decisions were published on the 22 May 2014 and will come into force on 30 
May 2014 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Kirsty Butcher, of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01225 713948 or e-mail kirsty.butcher@wiltshire.gov.uk   
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4Page 4



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 
 
22 July 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD): 

Site Allocations 
 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Toby Sturgis 

Strategic Planning, Development Management, Strategic 
Housing, Property and Waste 

 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform members of the outcome of an assessment of 
council owned land for inclusion as potential new traveller sites in the Gypsy and 
Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD) and to seek agreement to include 
these sites in the development plan process through to potential allocation in the 
draft plan.  The need to include council land in the DPD process was discussed in 
more detail at Cabinet Capital Assets Committee on 20 May 2014. 
 
To maintain a five year supply of sites throughout the proposed plan period of the 
Gypsy and Traveller DPD, land for a minimum of 78 new permanent pitches, 25 
transit pitches and 5 travelling show people plots needs to be provided.  These 
figures may change once the results of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Needs Assessment being carried out by Opinion Research Services (ORS) is 
complete this summer. 
 
The sites proposed to be allocated in the Gypsy and Traveller DPD need to reflect 
the overall pitch requirement, the distribution of need by housing market area and 
provide for a choice of site size and type (e.g. large and small, public and private).  It 
is to ensure an appropriate distribution and choice of sites that Council owned land is 
to be considered. 
 
14 locations in private ownership are identified for assessment through the DPD 
process.  8 locations in council ownership are identified for further assessment with 
an additional 9 locations highlighted which could be reviewed if more land is 
required.    
 
 
 
Proposal 
 
Members are asked to endorse the inclusion of the Council owned land listed at 
Appendix 3 for further assessment as part of the Gypsy and Traveller DPD process 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



to help maintain a five year supply of sites throughout out the proposed plan period 
in accordance with national policy. 
 

 

 
Reasons for Proposal 
 
There are a number of drivers for pursuing the opportunity to include public land in 
the proposed Gypsy and Traveller DPD.  These include: 
 
(i) The requirement to maintain a five year supply of traveller pitches included in 

national policy.  
 

(ii) The need to provide a choice in the size, type and location of traveller sites in 
Wiltshire. 
 

(iii) The legal requirement in the Housing Acts for councils to provide for the 
accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers in their area. 
 

(iv) The requirement in national policy for councils to respond positively to the 
accommodation needs of travellers, a commitment the Council has also made 
to the Wiltshire Core Strategy Inspector. 
 

(v) The benefits of reducing unauthorised encampments / developments. 
 

 
 

 
Alistair Cunningham 
Associate Director Economic Development and Planning 
 

 
 
 

Page 6



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 
 
22 July 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD): 

Site Allocations 
 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Toby Sturgis 

Strategic Planning, Development Management, Strategic 
Housing, Property and Waste 

 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform members of the outcome of an 

assessment of council owned land to be considered as potential new traveller 
sites in the Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD) and to 
seek agreement to include these sites in the development plan process 
through to potential allocation in the draft plan.  The need to include council 
land in the DPD process was discussed in more detail at Cabinet Capital 
Assets Committee on 20 May 2014. 
 

Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. The proposal to provide sites for Gypsies and Travellers is consistent with the 

Council’s top priorities in the Business Plan 2013-17. It will help protect those 
who are vulnerable in our community and bring communities together.  The 
release of land will provide an opportunity for a decent home for travellers and 
help reduce unauthorised caravan developments and encampments, which 
can divide communities and introduce conflict.  

 
Background 
 
3. The overall Council strategy for travellers is contained in the Gypsy and 

Traveller Strategy approved in 2010. The provision of new sites to meet the 
needs of the Gypsies and Travellers is an important part of that Strategy. 
 

4. The emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy (Core Policy 47), and subsequently the 
Gypsy and Traveller DPD, will provide local planning policy to ensure the 
accommodation needs of the Gypsy and Traveller communities in Wiltshire 
will be delivered.   

 
5. The Gypsy and Traveller DPD will provide a review of the overall permanent 

pitch requirements by Housing Market Area, identify sites for allocation as 
new traveller sites and include supporting development management policies.  

Page 7



The review of the overall permanent pitch requirement will be informed by a 
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (GTAA) which is 
being carried out by consultants Opinion Research Services (ORS).   

6. At Cabinet Capital Assets Committee on 20 May the committee endorsed the 
arrangements being undertaken to assess land in council ownership for 
inclusion in the Gypsies and Travellers DPD.  

 
7. To illustrate the scale of additional requirement currently anticipated and to be 

delivered through the Gypsy and Traveller DPD, Table 1, below, summarises 
the position at January 2014. (It should be noted that the review being carried 
out by ORS may result in an increased overall requirement.) 
 
Table 1: Monitor of planning applications in relation to Core Policy 47, Wiltshire 
Core Strategy 

 
Housing Market Area Total Proposed 

(2011-2021) 
a. 

Permanent 
pitches permitted 
(Dec 11-Jan 14) 

b. 

Remainder to be 
identified 
a-b 

North and West 
 

48 27 21 

South 
 

56 2 54 

East 
 

4 0 4 

Total  108 29 79 

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
8. At this stage in the preparation of the Gypsy and Traveller DPD the main 

consideration for the Council is how to support the delivery of new sites to 
ensure a mix of sites both geographically and in terms of size, type and tenure 
and maintain a five year supply of sites throughout the proposed plan period. 
To do this an initial assessment of Council owned land has now been 
undertaken.  
 

9. The process for the identification of new sites and an outline of methodology 
for appraising the suitability of potential new sites is set out below. In practice, 
these two processes are being developed in tandem. 

 
Identification of an initial pool of sites 

 
10. The process for the identification of potential new sites is illustrated in Table 2 

below. Inclusion in this initial pool of sites does not mean they will be taken 
forward and allocated as they have still be subject to the three tiered 
assessment (see Table 3, below).  Appendix 1 provides a list of 14 sites with 
site location plans that have been identified so far through Steps 1 to 4 of the 
process, i.e. existing temporary permissions, unauthorised but tolerated 
developments and sites promoted through a ‘call for sites’ exercise.  
 

Page 8



11. This is the potential list of non-Council owned sites at May 2014.  The bi-
annual caravan count will take place again on or around 17 July 2014. The 
potential supply from unauthorised developments (pitches on Gypsy owned 
land without planning permission) will be reviewed again at this time (Step 2).   
 
 

12. The potential for intensification or expansion (Step 5) is not known at this 
stage.  This knowledge is to be gained through the traveller questionnaires 
and site visits being undertaken by Opinion Research Services as part of the 
GTAA. It is anticipated that this will yield limited additional pitch capacity. 
 
Table 2: Process for the identification of potential new traveller sites 
 

STEP 1 
 

Review current temporary permissions 

 

There are currently 2 sites with temporary 

planning permission. These should be reviewed for 

possible inclusion in site allocations DPD 

   
 

 

STEP 2 
 

Review known unauthorised 

developments,  i.e. unpermitted sites 

on Gypsy owned land 

 

Caravan count identifies several unauthorised 

developments. These are often tolerated because 

the site has been in existence for periods longer 

than required for a certificate of lawfulness. 

Assessing these sites could be a useful source of 

supply. 

   
 

 

STEP 3 
 

Consider sites submitted as part of the 

call for sites exercise carried out in 

2010 

 

10 sites were submitted as part of the call for sites 

exercise in 2020. Of these all but 1 site has either 

been granted planning permission or tested 

through appeal. 

   
 

 

STEP 4 
 

Consider sites submitted as part of the 

call for sites exercise carried out in 

2014 

 

A further call for sites began in April 2014.  To date 

4 sites have been put forward. 

   
 

 

STEP 5 
 

Consider the intensification or 

extension of existing sites 

 

A review of caravan count data and planning 

applications indicates some permitted sites have 

the capacity to accommodate additional 

households.  This could be a source of additional 

supply 

   
 

 

STEP 6 
 

Review council owned land 

 

Consider potential opportunities within council 

assets 

   
 

 

Page 9



STEP 7 
 

Review sites submitted as part of the 

strategic housing land availability 

assessment. 

 

Where there remains a residual need following the 

above process individual sites in appropriate 

locations submitted to the SHLAA should be 

considered. 

 
 
 
 
 
Site Assessment Methodology 

 
13. The site assessment methodology is summarised in Table 3.   This identifies 

the themes to be addressed and the broad areas to be assessed in detail. All 
sites will be subject to this assessment before they are included in the draft 
plan.  Sites that fail the assessment, once any potential for mitigation has 
been taken into account, will not be included in the draft plan. At this stage, 
only Tier 1, of the initial assessment has been undertaken in relation to 
Council owned land.  
 
Table 3: Summary of Three-Tier Site Identification/Assessment Approach 

 
Theme Detailed criteria to cover: 

Tier 1: Location, Policy and Environmental Constraints 

Relationship to 
Settlements 

Sites should ideally be within an agreed acceptable distance of a 
neighbourhood/district centre via safe walking/cycle route(s). 

Policy Constraints Sites should avoid any adverse impact on local/national 
designations (such as conservation areas and Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty). 

Environmental 
Constraints 

Sites should avoid any hazardous areas (such as flood zones, 
contaminated land). 

Tier 2: Access and Infrastructure 

Physical 
Infrastructure 

The capacity of local infrastructure to accommodate the maximum 
number of pitches on a site.  

Transport 
Infrastructure 

Access to site options should be in line with adopted highway 
guidance and standards.  Access to public transport should be 
within an agreed distance and frequency. 

Social 
Infrastructure 

Sites should be within an acceptable walking distance of at least 
three local amenities/services, including schools, shops, medical 
facilities, recreational facilities via safe walking/cycle route.  
Capacity of existing infrastructure is also considered. 

Other 
Considerations 

e.g. the relationship of a site with existing Gypsy and Traveller sites 
(if any) is considered. 

Tier 3: Design and Deliverability 

Design and 
Impact 

The use of a site for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation is 
assessed in terms of its impact on the character/appearance of the 
surrounding area, along with the impact on the residential amenity of 
nearby properties. 

Deliverability The ease of acquisition is considered along with indicative costing of 
bringing the sites forward for development.  

 
 
 

Page 10



Assessment of Council land 
 
14. To be able to provide a mix of size, type, phasing and location in site 

availability, some Council owned land is likely to be needed.  The 14 sites 
identified through steps 1-4 of the process will not be sufficient. 
 

15. An initial, Tier 1, sift of Council owned land has been undertaken. To ensure a 
consistent approach to sites, the following detailed criteria have been applied 
after all land required to deliver essential Council services has been omitted 
(e.g. education, recreation, offices, roads).  Sites should:  
 
(a) be located within a 3 kilometre distance of a school and GP service 

(theme : relationship to settlements in Table 3); 
 

(b) not have an adverse impact on national/local designations (such as 
SSSI, conservation areas and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty); 
(theme : policy constraints in Table 3); 

(c) avoid any hazardous areas (such as flood zones, contaminated land); 
(theme : environmental constraints in Table 3). 

 
16. Criteria (a) together with the removal of land delivering an essential Council 

service reduced the initial list of over 4,000 sites to around 70 sites.  These 
were then studied in more detail to evaluate their compliance with criteria (b) 
and (c).  Appendix 2 provides an example of how a site was assessed to 
indicate whether it could be taken forward for inclusion in the initial pool of 
sites.  At this stage, any site within a flood zone, a groundwater protection 
zone, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or other landscape designated 
area or adjacent to an internationally or nationally protected site was 
excluded.  In some cases, there may be opportunities to mitigate against any 
immediate impact on these areas but for the purposes of this exercise all were 
excluded.  
 

17. Appendix 3 provides a list of sites with accompanying maps of those sites 
which ‘passed’ the Tier 1 assessment.  At this stage it is not proposed that all 
are taken forward immediately given alternative plans and proposals being 
considered or put forward by the Council. In Appendix 3 the colour code used 
is: 

 
RED passed the Tier 1 assessment but other competing Wiltshire Council 
interests or separate DPD in process that could affect the site. These sites 
could be revisited if current proposals fail.  
 
AMBER passed the Tier 1 assessment but need to recheck if releasing this 
land will impact on other ambitions of the Council in the locality. 
 
GREEN passed the Tier 1 assessment but need to do further work in terms of 
tenancy and any restrictions stipulated in any deed packet. These sites will go 
through to the next stage of assessment. 

 

Page 11



18. The colour codes arose following discussions with Property Services that 
identified where other ambitions of the Council are already being pursued, for 
example, an affordable housing scheme is being discussed at Site 17 in 
Bremhill.  There were also sites which were being reviewed as part of the 
planning process underway to plan new mixed use sites at Chippenham.  
These sites could be revisited at a later date if the sites are not identified for 
other land uses.  
 

19. Eight locations are identified in Appendix 3 as suitable for immediate further 
analysis. They include a range of site sizes.  Where site areas exceed 1.5 ha, 
further detailed work is necessary to determine which parcel of land within this 
larger area would be appropriate to take forward to the next stage. 

 
20. Subject to Committee approval these sites will be assessed further alongside 

those listed in Appendix 1 for compliance with Tiers 2 and 3 of the 
assessment methodology (see Table 3).  For all sites the more detailed 
analysis includes access to service infrastructure and the highway and 
assessment of potential landscape impact. 
 

 
21. As the list at Appendix 3 demonstrates, a number of the sites are large sites 

subject to an existing agricultural tenancy agreement. The ease to which the 
tenancy agreements can be renegotiated in accordance with the terms of any 
existing agreements and the precise location of a site within the wider land 
holding will be a critical part of the delivery discussion identified in Tier 3 of 
the assessment. 
 

22. The detailed assessments will be made publicly available in a background 
paper to the draft plan which would be subject to consultation in the autumn.  
All sites that ‘pass’ the Tier 1, 2 and 3 assessments will also be subject to a 
Sustainability Appraisal.   
 

23. Whether a site is ultimately allocated in the plan will depend on: 
 

• the overall pitch requirement once the GTAA is completed in the 
summer;  
 

• any opportunities for intensification of existing sites which may reduce 
the overall number of pitches to allocated; 

 

• the sites ‘fit’ with the overall distribution strategy of the plan; 
 

• the sites ‘fit’ with the overall strategy for a mix of size and type of new 
sites. 
 

This means that just because a site is identified in either Appendix 1 or 3 it 
does not mean it will subsequently be allocated.  It is included as part of the 
planning process to develop an overall strategy for the delivery of new or 
extended traveller sites. 
 

Page 12



24. The draft Gypsy and Traveller DPD and any background documentation will 
require Cabinet approval before it is published for consultation. It is currently 
anticipated that this approval will be sought at a November meeting of 
Cabinet. 
 

Safeguarding Implications 
 
25. Safeguarding is a key priority for Wiltshire Council and NHS Wiltshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group. It is a fact that the Gypsy and Traveller community 
generally has poorer health than the settled community, achieves lower 
education standards and suffers from historical stereotyping.  The objective of 
the Gypsy and Traveller DPD is to deliver new homes in locations that have 
good access to health and education; in locations planned in advance 
involving both the traveller and settled community.  The outcome should be 
less conflict, better access to services and a better quality of life. 

 
Public Health Implications 
 
26. Providing a settled base for travellers in sustainable locations that are also 

connected to main service infrastructure (gas, electricity, water, sewage) has 
public health benefits and provides access to health and education services.  
There may also be wider benefits in reducing unauthorised development and 
encampments.  Assessment of the health impact of proposals will be 
undertaken as part of the site assessment process. For example, ensuring 
sites are not affected by any hazard such as contaminated land in Tier 1 and 
availability of main service infrastructure in Tier 2 (see Table 2). 

Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
27. A Sustainability Appraisal/Sustainable Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA) 

and a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) are a required part of the 
development plan process in accordance with European law.  These will 
report on the social, economic and environmental impacts of all the policies 
and proposals contained within the Gypsy and Traveller DPD.  Draft reports 
for each document will be published for consultation at each stage of the 
plan’s development.  All sites that ‘pass’ the tiered assessment explained 
above will also be subject to SA/SEA and HRA. 
 

28. In principle, the release of new sites in sustainable locations should: 
 
(i) enable greater walking and cycling;   

 
(ii) promote sites in environmentally acceptable locations; and  

 
(iii) help reduce the amount of unauthorised developments and 

encampments in potentially environmentally damaging locations. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
29. The DPD overall will involve comprehensive consultation and communication 

with the local traveller and settled communities to ensure that proposed sites 
are appropriate for the needs of traveller communities, balanced against the 

Page 13



needs of the settled population.  
 

30. An Equality Impact Assessment of the DPD will be carried out alongside 
policy development and is required to be submitted with the DPD to the 
Planning Inspectorate as part of the examination process.   
 

31. The provision of new sites should help reduce the need for unauthorised 
development and encampments in the county, providing a better quality of life 
for travellers who wish to settle in Wiltshire or travel through Wiltshire as well 
as meeting the needs of the settled population. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
32. There is a risk that the release of new traveller sites will generate negative 

publicity for the Council, especially where sites are Council owned.  However, 
the Council has a duty to address the accommodation needs of travellers and 
strategies can be put in place to manage communication and consultation to 
mitigate this risk and outline the positive benefits of the proposal for local 
communities. 

 
33. Risks that may arise if work is not progressed to review land for release as 

new traveller sites include: 
  

(i) Planning applications that are refused may be won on appeal 
because the Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of site;  
 

(ii) An increase in unauthorised developments and encampments in 
unsustainable locations may arise; 

(iii) Increased difficulty in enforcing against unauthorised developments 
and encampments because of a lack of alternative sites to move to; 
 

(iv) The Council has committed to the Core Strategy Inspector to identify 
how it will adopt a positive approach towards the Gypsy and 
Travelling Community.  If the proposed work is not progressed the 
Council could be seen to be not showing, as far as is practicable, that 
it is responding positively to national planning policy for traveller sites. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
34. The process of identifying land to consider as part of the DPD process does 

not have any financial implications as this will be done as part of the 
programmed work of officers.  

 
35. Once allocated, financial implications will be a consideration in deciding on 

how sites are released to the community; for example, sites could be sold, 
made available on a long lease or developed using community initiatives.  It is 
not at this stage envisaged that permanent sites allocated would be built and 
managed by the Council.   
 

36. Transit provision would need to be managed and maintained by the Council. 
The cost of provision will be addressed as part of an assessment of the 

Page 14



delivery of each location but could range from simply the cost of a water 
standpipe and rubbish disposal on a temporary basis to an ‘all year round’, 
secured site. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
37. This report seeks to advise members on the progress of planning policy and 

strategy in respect of the Gypsy and Traveller community.  The requirement to 
identify a five year supply of deliverable and developable traveller sites 
appears in the Planning Policy for Traveller sites, which as a national policy 
document must be taken into account in the preparation of development 
plans.  This report outlines how that requirement is being managed and 
proposals for its delivery. 
 

38. Once suitable sites have been identified, legal advice will need to be sought 
on their current status in terms of ownership/tenancy and on future forms of 
ownership and management. 

 
Options Considered 
 
39. Not to include Council owned land in the DPD process: 

 
This option would rely solely on new sites for travellers being brought forward 
by the traveller community. This is an unreliable source of supply and would 
not enable the Council to demonstrate a deliverable and developable five year 
supply of sites. 

 
40. To include the consideration of Council owned land in the DPD process: 

 
This option enables the Council to complement land brought forward by the 
traveller community and ensure a supply of sites through the plan period.  It 
also provides the enforcement teams relocation opportunities to agreed 
locations when dealing with unauthorised developments and encampments.  

Conclusion 
 
41. The Gypsy and Traveller DPD will enable the planned release of new traveller 

sites in accordance with a clear set of criteria.  The inclusion of Council owned 
land in this process will support the maintenance of a five year supply of 
developable and deliverable sites within the county over the plan period and 
ensure there is a mix of sites both geographically and in terms of size, type 
and tenure.   In short, a comprehensive, planned strategy for the release of 
homes for travellers. 
 

42. The planned release of new traveller sites will also: 
 

• help meet the legal requirement in the Housing Acts for councils to 
provide for the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers in 
their area; 

 

Page 15



• demonstrate that Wiltshire Council is responding positively to the 
accommodation needs of travellers a requirement of national planning 
policy, and  

 

• help reduce the occurrence of unauthorised encampments / 
developments. 
 

 
 
 
Alistair Cunningham 
Associate Director Economic Development and Planning 
 
Report Author: 
Carolyn Gibson 
16 June 2014 

 

 
Background Papers: 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation 
of this report: 
 
 None 
 
Appendices 
 
 Appendix 1: List of potential sites excluding Council owned land 
 Appendix 2: Sample Tier 1 site assessment template 
 Appendix 3: List of potential Council owned sites  
 

Page 16



Page 17

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27

Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 57

Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	7 Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD): Site Allocations
	9 Gypsy and Traveller Development Plan Document (DPD): Site Allocations
	Gypsy and Traveller DPD Site Allocations report Appendix 2
	Gypsy and Traveller DPD Site Allocations report Appendix 3

	10 Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Project
	Gypsy Roma and Traveller Project Appendix A


